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In 1957 Cameron State Agricultural College1 Li-
brarian Arda Frans retired from employment at her “best love,” her
“little library.” In a carefully worded letter addressed to her successor
Frans provided detailed instructions for use of the facility’s single-unit
“evaporative air-conditioner.”2 She could not have foreseen that one
day computers would replace the sun as the library’s main problem-
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atic heat-generating source, and she was not thinking about the
many past years of the library’s existence when continued survival
had outweighed concern with the indoor air temperature.

Frans retired from a library that lay midway between two ex-
tremes, distinctly different from both its early-twentieth-century
and its late-twentieth-century forms. Early school administrators
had struggled to meet students’ reading needs and had fretted over
the school’s viability. Later administrators entrusted the library’s
care to professionally trained librarians. They presided over a collec-
tion large for the institution’s size, provided well-established ser-
vices, and helped lead the state in the use of sophisticated, li-
brary-specific software products. From 1909 to the present
Cameron’s presidents and library staff have been determined to
meet changing community-based educational needs and to propel a
library that served an early-twentieth-century agricultural high
school to a modern, twenty-first-century, four-year college.

Cameron Library likely began as a few shelves of books housed
in an office. In 1909 when J. A. Liner, faculty member and president
(1909–12), opened Cameron State School of Agriculture, an institu-
tion designed to meet the educational needs of local farm families,
developing a library was not a top priority. Forced to open the school
in a dimly lighted bank storage basement, Liner was initially con-
cerned with program development and with construction of a class-
room building, under way on a more permanent location that had
been selected for the school.3

After moving two miles west of downtown Lawton, Oklahoma, to
the new building, later known as “Old Main,” Cameron found its fu-
ture threatened by persistent and severe lack of legislative support.
Lawmakers argued that maintenance of both city and rural agricul-
tural schools was costly and unnecessary and considered abolishing
Oklahoma’s agricultural institutions of learning. From 1913 to
1917 legislative opposition denied Cameron’s administrators the
necessary funds for operating at an adequate level and constructing
buildings to accommodate a growing student enrollment. These dif-
ficulties consumed the energies of school officials. Under different
circumstances they might have focused resources toward develop-
ing a library similar to Lawton High School’s. By 1919 that institu-
tion owned almost fifteen hundred “classified and arranged” vol-
umes under the care of a “librarian.”4

Although during this era the agricultural school focused on expe-
riential learning-based farming and domestic science programs,
Cameron students nevertheless needed access to library resources.
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From the earliest days of its existence the North Central Associa-
tion of Colleges and Secondary Schools had viewed high school li-
brary resources as a desirable quality. This was especially true in
1914 when Robert P. Short (1914), Cameron's president, imple-
mented a fourth year of study to enable students to continue their
education at Oklahoma’s four-year agricultural college, Oklahoma
A&M College in Stillwater. America’s early-twentieth-century high
school English, history, and other subject-matter teachers required
students to read and study books other than official textbooks.5 In
spite of Cameron Library’s inadequate materials,6 State Board of
Agriculture member J. J. Savage made no mention of library re-
sources when he inspected the school in 1916.7

Fortunately, Cameron students and faculty members had access
to the Lawton Public Library, which helped meet reading needs not
filled by official textbooks and meagre on-campus materials. The
college’s initial downtown location placed students and faculty
members within walking distance of the public library. The first
Cameron students who visited that facility found themselves in a
room on the upper floor of a bank and later in the city hall building.
In 1922, several years after Cameron moved away from its tempo-
rary downtown location, students visited Lawton Public Library in
an attractive Carnegie Corporation–funded building. Students
made this journey by horse-drawn van, bicycle, horseback, or foot.
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However, unpaved roads, extreme weather conditions, and limited
methods of transportation hindered travel. In addition, Cameron
administrators and faculty carefully controlled student activities
from early morning to late evening, thereby limiting the number of
downtown visits and increasing the need for on-campus library re-
sources.8

The addition of new dormitories and a creamery failed to provide
a lasting physical facility solution. In 1921 Pres. A. E. Wickizer
(1920–23) confronted an institution with deteriorating buildings
too small to meet school needs and with limited library materials.
Due to determined faculty, students, and community members the
school remained open. Dedicated students managed to complete
their course work using only a few shelves of library books. In that
same year Wickizer reported to state legislators on school facilities.
Noting the lack of library resources, he stated that “‘this school
needs a library. It has almost none. We have books to fill seven sec-
tions of a sectional book case, also a few old bulletins and reports
stored away.’”9

Despite funding difficulties Cameron administrators and faculty
developed a successful and popular four-year high school program
and a seventh- and eighth-grade high school preparatory regimen.
Programs focused on practical skill development and on traditional
grade-school academic subjects. In addition to completing standard
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high school English, history, mathematics, and music courses, young
women attended domestic science and arts classes; young men com-
pleted agriculture, dairying, and manual training courses.10 The
curriculum helped develop successful rural farmers and citizens.

From the school’s inception the local community was enthusias-
tic and supportive. They first cared for students in private homes.
In 1920 local bankers furnished funds to finish construction of a
women’s dormitory. In 1922 Lawton Chamber of Commerce mem-
bers helped President Wickizer secure funding for additional dor-
mitory construction. Between 1923 and 1927 a building that housed

a library was constructed, perhaps by the same local citizens and
businessmen who, jarred into action by lack of legislative funding
and appalled by the poor condition of campus structures, had ear-
lier aided the building program. The edifice also provided work
space for the school’s yearbook staff. In 1927 state legislators
granted Cameron junior college status, meeting a demand for col-
lege education in southwestern Oklahoma and ensuring the
school’s survival. Legislation officially changed the institution’s
name to Cameron State Agricultural College.11 The addition of sub-
ject-specific courses supplied a heightened need to develop a library
worthy of the new status.

Administrators, the faculty of eighteen professors, and the stu-
dents increased the collection’s size by donating books from per-
sonal libraries, and they remodeled the building’s interior.12 Of this
new Cameron State Agricultural College Library, students and fac-
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ulty were proud. Enthusiastic student journalists chronicled library
improvements in the pages of the nascent school newspaper, The
Cameron Collegian. The youthful reporters announced and detailed
book donations and described how anticipation of the completed
1927 library improvement project generated enthusiasm for library
use.13 Judging by newspaper articles, the library was a special
source of student pride during the college’s first few years.

In 1928 Pres. John L. Coffey (1927–31) appointed Frances Carter
as librarian. Although Carter lacked formal library management
training, the president deemed her qualified to hold the position be-
cause she had graduated from Cameron “with high honors.” One of
the school’s “most popular young ladies,” undoubtedly this good-na-
tured person made library visits appealing for students and faculty
alike. Although by 1927 many of America’s academic libraries were
under the care of professionally trained librarians, Cameron would
follow the traditional practice of placing a faculty member or, as in
Carter’s case, a graduate, in charge of the library. At this stage of its
development Cameron resembled nineteenth-century American
small colleges in which, due to necessity, “professors, tutors, stu-
dents, and even college presidents assumed the job [of librarian].”14

Although Cameron and Lawton community members thought
well of the school and its library, external evaluators who visited
the college in 1931 did not. In that year, Schiller Scroggs, Oklahoma
A&M College’s director of administrative research, submitted a re-
port entitled “A Partial Survey of Cameron State School of Agricul-
ture” to the Oklahoma State Board of Agriculture, the institution’s
governing board. After detailing several classroom building and
equipment deficiencies, the author described the library as inade-
quate. “The most outstanding weakness of the school from any
point of view,” he said, “[is that] the library is entirely inadequate
for anything approaching high grade high school instruction, not to
mention instruction on a college level. . . .” Scroggs considered library
resources to be “the heart of all instruction.” “Without adequate li-
brary facilities,” he wrote, “instruction tends to become merely a
text-book affair, limited, uninspiring, and wholly unfitted to be called
college teaching.”15

The 1931 external evaluation was the first of many that would
find Cameron Library resources and services deficient. Such nega-
tive reports fueled a desire to secure resources for library improve-
ment and brought administrators and librarians together to work
toward effecting it. Determining exactly what changes would sat-
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isfy evaluators and working to obtain the necessary resources to ef-
fect change, however, proved a time-consuming challenge.

Scroggs’s conclusions likely influenced Cameron Pres. Charles
M. Conwill (1931–46) in his decision to hire the institution’s first
professionally trained librarian. Further, Conwill was probably fa-
miliar with early North Central Association of Colleges and Sec-
ondary Schools guidelines that required a library to be “profession-
ally administered.” He decided that Cameron should employ a pro-
fessional librarian in order to strengthen the weak library de-
scribed in the survey and to comply with North Central guidelines.
He hired Howard Way, a library school graduate who had recently
completed a difficult cataloging assignment at the University of
Oklahoma’s main library.16 Equipped with an outgoing personality
and a genuine enthusiasm for library work, Way used his educa-
tional and work experiences, together with President Conwill’s sup-
port for library improvement, to transform Cameron Library.

Seeking to make the institution into “the best junior college it
could be,”17 Conwill took “great interest in the library”18 and sup-
ported Way as he tried to correct the problems noted in the 1931 re-
port. The president viewed access to scholarly materials other than
textbooks as an essential component of college-level education. His
dual interest in library development, that of meeting accreditation
guidelines and providing high-quality education, proved important.
With the president strongly behind him, Way expanded collections,
improved access to them, and encouraged their use. The new librar-
ian gave Cameron Library its first meaningful direction.

Consulting North Central Association of Colleges and Secondary
Schools guidelines, Way discovered that association officials expected
college libraries to contain “at least eight thousand volumes . . . bear-
ing specifically upon the subjects taught.”19 Conwill made one thou-
sand dollars available for the purchase of library books, quite a sum
in 1936. Several months later Way’s diligent and knowledgeable
use of the Dewey decimal classification scheme made an eight-thou-
sand-volume collection accessible via a card-catalog filing system.20

Way purchased books related to each of Cameron’s programs. He
expanded the library’s magazine subscription count from two to
twenty-one. American Home supported home economics courses,
while Hoards Dairyman and Oklahoma Farmer strengthened the
agriculture program. Subscriptions to Musical America and Mod-
ern Music accommodated the band and music programs.21 His selec-
tions reflected his understanding of the accrediting body’s require-
ment that library materials be directly related to course offerings.
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Professor Way’s collection development activities were more vig-
orous than even North Central required. A practical-minded librar-
ian employed in a practical-minded school, he purchased “the type
of book that the student can read and then apply to his actual condi-
tions and . . . use in his class work.”22 Like the Cameron State Agri-
cultural College curriculum that taught students “real life” skills of
immediate value, the librarian’s book selection choices were driven
by the desire to meet students’ reading needs through the wisest
use of funds.

After purchasing and cataloging materials, the librarian em-
ployed his creative talents and congenial personality to encourage
their use. He energetically publicized the collection by providing
student journalists with information on newly acquired materials.
He spoke enthusiastically and descriptively about library materials
to anyone he met.23 His likeable personality and enthusiasm for li-
brarianship infused his efforts with energy that ensured success.

Way facilitated use of the library by carefully improving and
maintaining reading room furnishings. He kept the area equipped
with tables, chairs, and a card catalog. In 1935 he placed a “beauti-
ful . . . leather back” Bible, purchased for the library by Lawton

287

CAMERON UNIVERSITY’S LIBRARY

Howard Way (Courtesy Cameron
University Library).



YMCA and YWCA officials, in the room “on a special table where all
students of the school [had] . . . access to it.”24 Such efforts made this
early reading room comfortable, attractive, and functional.

In making the reading room physically appealing, providing a
well-organized card catalog, and publicizing new and existing hold-
ings, the librarian overcame a potential barrier to collection use—a
closed stack area. During his administration the school’s book col-
lection resided on shelves located behind a solid wall, separated
only by an opening or “call window” counter area where patrons re-
quested use of materials from the librarian. This arrangement,
common in nineteenth-century North American college libraries,
protected materials rather than encouraged their use. When the
next new library building was constructed, Cameron would follow
other institutions that had shifted to open stack access as a means
of facilitating collection use. Until then, Way overcame the physical
barrier between the reading room and the stacks by maintaining an
accurate patron-use card catalog and by permitting students and
faculty members to go behind the wall and browse through the
shelved materials.25

The hardworking students who used Cameron’s early library ap-
preciated the opportunity to attend a local school that focused on
the practice of agriculture. After attending class from morning until
mid-afternoon, they engaged in physical exercise. Many students
also took part in team sport programs, the debate team, or the
school band. Social activities, church attendance, and course assign-
ments filled student evenings. Somehow, those who attended
Cameron and used its library during this early era also managed to
find time to supply much of the labor required to keep the school op-
erating. They planted trees, gardened, cared for school-owned live-
stock, helped construct new buildings, and maintained existing
ones. These individuals also improved the library through book do-
nations. If students complained about the dearth of library re-
sources, records of such complaints have not survived.26 The faculty,
however, may have struggled with the problem of scarce materials
when they were devising students’ reading assignments.

During the Great Depression years of the 1930s students gained
a new opportunity to participate in library development. A Federal
Civil Works Agency program provided student library employment
funds. Under Professor Way’s supervision students prepared re-
cently purchased materials for patron use. While earning money,
they improved their knowledge of information resources, gained
work experience, and built a feeling of accomplishment. According
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to former student Irene Clements, “Way made student employment
a positive experience for those who participated in it.” Many years
after he approached Clements with the idea of working in the li-
brary, she remembered how he energetically encouraged her to
change from cafeteria to library worker because he thought she
would profit personally and academically from doing so.27

Professor Way’s “love for good books”28 and President Conwill’s
genuine interest in library development fueled decisions that re-
sulted in expanded collections, improved accessibility, and in-
creased library use. The enthusiasm that both men showed for
Cameron Library facilitated use of and interest in it. Conwill’s con-
cern with library development led him to take actions that resulted
in construction of a new library. Unfortunately, ill health forced him
to resign.29 His successor, C. Vernon Howell (1947–57), realized
Conwill’s dream of a new library.

In 1948 Cameron proudly opened the doors of an architecturally
impressive, award-winning, $128,000 combination library, class-
room, and administration building. The first floor provided office
space for president, registrar, bursar, and classrooms. The second
floor library contained shelving capacity for fifteen thousand vol-
umes, library staff offices and workrooms, and reading/study tables
and chairs that simultaneously could accommodate one hundred of
the approximately six hundred students. The space could meet the
needs of approximately one thousand to twelve hundred students. 30

The building’s exterior appearance invited visitors to enter. From
sidewalks leading to it, students and faculty members viewed an at-
tractive brick edifice enhanced by numerous windows. One small
section of the building was one story in height, while the remainder
was two stories. A landscaping project added appeal. A researcher
later described the facility as the campus’s “first modern structure.”31

Also pleasing was the new library’s interior, considered architec-
turally innovative at the time. The interior surfaces used the same
type of brick that formed the outside walls. Abundant natural light
illuminated the reading room’s sturdy study tables. Venetian blinds
added interest to the windows and blocked unwanted direct sun-
light.32 The main seating and shelving areas were open to each
other. Shelves located underneath the windows and adjacent to the
study tables housed high-use reference materials.

Hired in 1946 as the school’s second professionally trained li-
brarian, Arda Frans planned and directed the relocation of nine
thousand printed volumes from the old building to the new. She
hired and supervised the work of several students who assisted
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with the transfer. A detail-oriented person, she created and pre-
served written records of the number of hours the students worked
and the pay owed to them.33 The fact that Frans saved these and
other records relating to her administration suggests that she be-
lieved the school library would survive and that its history would
become of interest to future researchers.

In conjunction with the move the librarian made what must have
been a long-awaited transition from closed to open stacks. This con-
version meshed with a growing interest in facilitating access to col-
lege library materials, even at the risk of increased patron-induced
damage or theft.34 The knowledge that accrediting agency officials
would employ relative ease of material access as one measure of in-
stitutional success rendered school officials supportive of the tran-
sition to open stacks.

Howell and Frans proudly hosted an open house to celebrate the
new combination administration and library building. Fifty-seven
individuals attended.35 The event opened a new era in the library’s
role in promoting Cameron to the community. For the first time, the
library became an asset to administrators’ efforts to recruit new
students and supporters. From that time forward, the library
played an important role in ensuring the school’s survival by facili-
tating teaching and learning and by impressing visitors as a mod-
ern facility conducive to research and study.

After the move, administrators made funds available for labor
and materials, enabling Frans to expand the collection and further
facilitate its use. In 1948 Howell had authorized her to hire a
full-time library assistant to help enlarge the collection. Assistant
librarian and sophomore student Rebecca Kinzer helped Frans ac-
cession “one hundred books the first month of school and also set up
permanent files for 60 periodicals.” According to The Cameron Col-
legian, school officials believed that hiring additional staff would
help secure North Central Association approval. In December 1949
new steel shelves replaced temporary wooden ones and permitted
doubling the collection’s size to eighteen thousand volumes. Buoyed
by the new assistance, space, and facilities, Frans worked with Col-
legian reporters to publicize new acquisitions by title and subject.36

Students using the library during the years when it was located
in this award-winning building likely were satisfied with it. It was a
pleasant place to work, except during hot weather when lack of air
conditioning made the second-floor public access area uncomfort-
able. Patrons enjoyed open shelf access and a growing library collec-
tion. Natural light illuminated their reading materials, and a heat-
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ing system kept them comfortable in the winter. In Frans the stu-
dents had a patient, kind librarian and an experienced teacher who
taught them how to the use the card catalog, encouraged them to
read, and provided them with the library’s first “leisure” reading
collection. As enrollment expanded, however, lack of private study
areas made quiet library time increasingly difficult.37

When Frans retired in 1957, administrators wondered whether
recent improvements would meet two-year college accreditation
standards. Pres. Clarence L. Davis (1957–60) hired as librarian
Odeal Locke, a former Women’s Army Corps servicewoman and li-
brary school graduate. One of her first duties was to complete the li-
brary-related portion of a “self-study” report requested by North
Central officials. The resulting nineteen pages described library
services and collections and explained how administrative deci-
sion-making structures worked to ensure high-quality services and
collections. Locke detailed the library’s physical plant, hours of op-
eration, staff qualifications, holdings, instructional programs, bud-
get preparation, expenditures, and strengths and needs. She de-
scribed how she worked with faculty members to develop and main-
tain collections and services designed to meet college needs.38 The
tone of her writing suggests her positive view of the resources un-
der her care.

Visiting North Central team members, however, disagreed. After
examining the Cameron State Agricultural College report and con-
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ducting a site visit, they denied the junior college’s bid for associa-
tion membership. With regard to the library, the officials deemed
per-student material expenditures insufficient, student and faculty
use of the library low, and the building’s physical facilities in need
of improvement.39

Becoming more serious about gaining status as an accredited col-
lege, school administrators busied themselves addressing and cor-
recting these problems. They hired a University of Texas junior col-
lege consultant during the 1959–60 and 1960–61 school years to
help plan for and implement a solution for each of the examining
team’s criticisms.40 President Davis provided library development
funds and secured a six-thousand-dollar library improvement grant.
These actions enabled a phenomenal per-student library expendi-
ture increase from $.61 in 1958 to $7.02 in 1961. Locke made 2,067
new book additions in 1960 and 1961, an impressive accomplish-
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ment for a librarian working without access to shared Library of
Congress system catalog records. 41

As the work of selecting, purchasing, and cataloging new materi-
als began to proceed at an accelerated pace, Locke developed and
implemented a plan designed to increase student and faculty use.
Her efforts proved successful, as judged by the fact that 1960–61
school year library use doubled that of the previous year. Strategies
included making general and course-related reading lists and bibli-
ographies available to students and faculty members and conduct-
ing a freshman orientation program focused on effective library
use. Additional strategies included notifying students, faculty, and ad-
ministrators of new acquisitions, implementing joint librarian-faculty
collection development procedures, and including library-related in-
formation in the student handbook.42
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To address North Central officials’ concern with the building’s fa-
cilities, Locke used some of the funds provided by the administra-
tion to upgrade library furniture. Pres. Richard Burch (1960–69)
decided to begin planning for a new library and administration
building. He was probably influenced by the North Central report
that found library space lacking. The president's new direction,
however, diverted the librarian’s attention away from devoting time
to enhancing the physical aspects of the existing library.43

Locke’s self-confident personality and focus on library excellence
helped her make needed improvements. She effected changes be-
yond those required by North Central officials. For example, the li-
brarian relocated the circulation desk to an area adjacent to the
building’s exit in order to better ensure that material did not leave
the building without being properly checked out. So determined
was she to establish and maintain excellent services that she chal-
lenged her superiors when she disagreed with them. One such inci-
dent occurred when Locke discovered that new building plans
failed to include a mechanized book lift. That plans were modified
to include such a device suggests her adeptness at encouraging oth-
ers to view matters as she did.44

In 1963 Locke relocated the collections to the new building, one
that housed both library and school administration offices. This fa-
cility opened with resources that included fifteen thousand books,
nine daily newspaper subscriptions, and a sixty-drawer card cata-
log that provided Dewey decimal system subject, title, and author
collection access. Twenty boxes of new books and three new encyclo-
pedia sets awaited cataloging.45 Perhaps most important from a stu-
dent’s perspective, there were new, semiprivate study areas.

A full-time assistant, a full-time secretary, and several part-time
student employees helped the librarian provide student and faculty
access to a continual supply of recently published books and ex-
panded reference and serial collections. This staffing level enabled
Locke to teach library orientation sessions to students in English
courses. Expanded hours allowed students and faculty to enjoy ac-
cess to materials and study areas from 8:00 a.m. to 9:30 p.m. each
Monday through Thursday and from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. each Fri-
day and Saturday.46 Cool indoor air that circulated during south-
western Oklahoma’s hot summer months must have delighted
those who had visited the older library.

The new building was not without its problems, however. It
lacked growth space, because administrators occupied the build-
ing’s first floor. The book lift had been installed, but it was too small.
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Although it obviated the need to haul boxes of new books up the stairs,
its size required staff to constantly load and unload it, a persistent,
time-consuming challenge.47 These problems increased in severity
with continued enrollment growth and expanding collections.

The move to the new facility stimulated Locke’s drive to estab-
lish and achieve challenging goals. Soon after accomplishing the
major task of relocating the entire library collection to the new
building, she tackled a conversion from the Dewey decimal to the
Library of Congress classification scheme. She believed the conver-
sion was necessary to facilitate collection growth and subject-specific
collection browsing. She also thought that the change would assist
the administration’s ongoing efforts to achieve four-year college
status and accreditation. Approaching her task with determination,
she reasoned that Cameron could accomplish the same type of con-
version then underway at Oklahoma’s two university libraries.48

With help from full- and part-time assistants, she and the next
head librarian would see this monumental task to completion.

While Locke’s headstrong, self-assured personality served the
school well in terms of moving and recataloging the collection, her
authoritative management style made difficult a transition to
shared library governance. In response to continuing North Central
criticisms about the lack of faculty involvement in campus deci-
sion-making processes, administrators created several campus gov-
ernance committees. When they formed a library committee, Locke
confronted this development by attempting to control the content,
the scheduling, and the format of the group’s meetings. Her overly
assertive approach made it difficult for other committee members
to affect library-related decisions.49

In 1968 a newly hired education professor, Karen McKellips,
transformed the library committee into a mechanism for shared li-
brary governance. McKellips viewed the committee as a faculty gov-
ernance instrument that she and other forward-looking faculty
members could use to promote freedom of expression and informa-
tion access. She and other committee members discussed and af-
firmed the American Library Association “Library Bill of Rights”
and “The Freedom to Read” statements. She surprised Locke in No-
vember 1968 by requesting that a meeting be scheduled. The librar-
ian’s hastily composed, handwritten reply suggests that until this
time Locke had seen herself as the only proper initiator of meetings.
The resulting session established a precedent for faculty input into
library-related matters. Professor McKellips deserves credit for
making the library committee the shared governance mechanism
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envisioned by North Central officials.50 Although the library com-
mittee supplied one opportunity for faculty participation in institu-
tional decision-making processes, lack of campuswide shared gover-
nance mechanisms would remain an obstacle to North Central
accreditation.

Looking back to the library’s beginnings, it is clear that the facil-
ity in 1968 was larger and much more adequate than its predeces-
sors. It housed approximately forty-three thousand printed mate-
rial volumes—twice the number contained only four years before.
These volumes and 388 serial subscriptions provided access to cur-
rent information on a wide variety of scholarly subjects. With assis-
tance from five full-time, nonprofessional staff members, four li-
brarians maintained this collection and provided library services.
Representing between 6 and 7 percent of Cameron College’s total
budget, the library’s funding allocation exceeded the 5 percent rec-
ommended by American Library Association guidelines.51

Impressive though this library was in comparison with the one of
earlier years, in May 1969 North Central representatives denied
Cameron’s four-year college accreditation request, in part due to li-
brary deficiencies. North Central agents deemed the expanded li-
brary resources still “insufficient” to meet the information needs of
the anticipated number of students who would enroll in a four-year
program. Also problematic to evaluators was the lack of an au-
dio-visual collection and viewing center and insufficient evening
and weekend hours of operation. The fact that Cameron College
routed all book orders through the Stillwater, Oklahoma–based
A&M board’s purchasing agent also troubled North Central agents.
They deemed this process unnecessarily cumbersome.52

More positively, North Central visiting team members identified
several library-related strengths. Locke’s “advanced academic and
library training,” excellent collection development efforts, and effi-
cient cataloging strategies pleased the officials. They were favorably
impressed with student use of the Library of Congress classifica-
tion system, and they liked the plans to take over the space occu-
pied by the college administration.53 Library development was
headed in the right direction, despite the fact that it had yet to ar-
rive at a destination that would satisfy accreditation officials.

Into this set of circumstances came James Byrn, a recent library
school graduate and former military officer. A visit to Cameron Li-
brary while he was completing his library degree proved fateful.
Impressed with Byrn’s likable personality and military administra-
tive experience, Locke told him that she was preparing to retire and
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convinced him to apply for her position. He secured the job after be-
ing interviewed by outgoing and incoming presidents during a pe-
riod of leadership transition.

The recently hired librarian soon learned about the administra-
tion’s determination to earn four-year accreditation. Years of work
ensued as campus administrators and Byrn strove to correct li-
brary-related difficulties identified by North Central officials. Byrn
expanded library hours from sixty to seventy-two per week and pro-
vided for the use of an audio-visual collection. He enhanced an
Oklahoma curriculum collection initially secured by Locke. When
school administrators vacated the shared building, Byrn created
spacious reading, circulation, and reference areas near the library’s
new, first-floor entrance.

Two major problems remained: the collection’s small size54 and
insufficient quantity of quality materials for several major aca-
demic subject areas. Urged on by Cameron’s first academic dean,
Dr. Richard Murray, the former military officer identified collection
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development as his main priority. He began an intensive search for
books to add to the collection.

Byrn, who had quietly but successfully changed his title from
that of “head librarian” to “director of library services,” found cre-
ative and varied ways to expand the collection. When Oklahoma’s
two large academic libraries culled their shelves, he secured the
withdrawn materials for Cameron Library. He asked for and re-
ceived donations from Lawton residents’ private book collections.
He focused Pres. Don Owen’s (1969–80) attention on acquiring a
junior college library collection that was for sale, and Owen secured
a grant from the state legislature that enabled the purchase. Using
vans, librarians and library staff hauled books from a variety of lo-
cations and helped catalog and shelve them. When he searched its
attic for books, Byrn’s own house became a resource.55

Two procedural changes assisted collection development activi-
ties, rendering the book-purchasing process more efficient. The di-
rector convinced Cameron’s business manager to stop personally
reviewing all book purchase requests before authorizing them. Ad-
ditionally and in accord with North Central recommendations,
Cameron ceased sending material requests to Stillwater for A&M
board approval. These changes enabled Byrn to acquire new mate-
rials at an ever more rapid rate.56

Three years of buying, moving, cataloging, and shelving materi-
als produced a positive result in 1973. A North Central team pro-
nounced Cameron College Library’s 102,000–volume collection suffi-
cient to meet the needs of a four-year, baccalaureate degree–granting
institution. Periodical title subscriptions numbered seven hundred.57

The persistent efforts of past and present librarians, school admin-
istrators, and students who had worked to develop Cameron’s li-
brary made possible this moment.

The library’s continually expanding enrollment, programs, and
staff necessitated altered work patterns. Byrn could not be the li-
brarian that Locke had been when she completed almost all of the
library’s daily work by herself. Nor could he be the librarian that
Frans had been when she obtained assistance with and approval for
administrative changes through direct communication with the
President Howell.58 Instead of doing most of the work himself and
securing resources by communicating directly with the president,
Byrn shared responsibilities with four professional librarians and
dealt with administrators who reported to the president. While sev-
eral librarians handled instruction, cataloging, circulation, and in-
terlibrary loan services, the director supervised employees, bud-
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geted, allocated, and expended funds, and conducted assessment,
planning, and publicity activities. When he needed administrative
guidance or assistance, Byrn worked with Academic Dean Murray,
Cameron’s first liaison between president and library director.
Byrn’s ability to successfully collaborate with co-workers enabled
him to establish communication patterns that were suited to an ex-
panded scale of operations.

Because Byrn viewed his fellow librarians as professionals pos-
sessing a high level of expertise, he decided to seek faculty status
for them. When Dean Murray created a special committee to con-
sider the request, the shared governance question reemerged. Al-
though the final result was a recommendation for faculty status,
the three-year-long effort to produce it was time-consuming and
stressful.59 In the end, librarians participated in campuswide fac-
ulty governance structures, and they now found opportunities to
discuss library- and campus-related needs and developments.

While committee structures helped Byrn accomplish some of his
goals, they consumed a significant portion of his energies and some-
times prevented him from effecting changes. Committee members
forced the director to address requests for after-hours faculty li-
brary access and for extended hours of operation. They refused to
support his attempt to implement a dress code. In the 1970s “free-
dom of expression” atmosphere, faculty members joked about his
concern for proper student attire. The library committee formally
denied Byrn’s proposed regulationsduring its May 6, 1971, meet-
ing.60 The first Cameron librarian to work in a true shared campus
governance setting, Byrn learned by trial and error how to address
committee-generated requests and how to decide which issues mer-
ited consideration.

In addition to enlarging the collection, securing faculty status for
librarians, and establishing a successful organizational structure,
the director created a “patron friendly” environment designed to en-
courage library use. He relaxed Locke’s strict collection use rules by
providing open access to materials she had kept out of public view.
During National Library Week he provided “amnesty” for patrons
returning overdue, damaged, or improperly charged library materi-
als.61 Such actions fostered an inviting and relaxed atmosphere, de-
signed to facilitate student academic success through increased li-
brary use.

Byrn prepared his co-workers for entry into the emerging world
of library computerization. He introduced the topic into discussion
and encouraged the librarians to learn all they could about it. Such
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leadership helped enable his successor, Robert Phillips, to imple-
ment use of an Online Computer Library Center to catalog materi-
als. Phillips and those who worked with him made Cameron Li-
brary one of the first Oklahoma libraries to provide computerized
access to the holdings.62 These individuals similarly established
electronic access to periodical indexes and full-text databases.

Automation emerged at Cameron Library during the 1970s and
1980s through a sometimes frustrating process. System failures
that denied patrons card catalog access, together with cumbersome
online catalog search mechanisms, distressed students and librari-
ans alike. In November 1986, 667 students who were upset about
online catalog failures petitioned Pres. Don Davis (1980–2002) to
require Phillips to reinstate the physical card catalog. As computer
programs became more sophisticated and networked connections
more reliable, students and faculty benefitted increasingly from im-
proved information access.63

Library services, collections, and staffing needs increased in size
and complexity, and Cameron became a university in 1974. In 1980
seven full-time librarians, eight full-time staff members, and sev-
eral student workers managed library collections and services,
while an assistant director helped manage the organization’s oper-
ations. Library faculty member credentials improved as each librar-
ian earned a graduate-level degree beyond that of master of library
science in order to qualify for academic tenure.64

Librarians expanded educational services and activities through
creation and participation in special activities. They designed edu-
cational displays, hosted traveling exhibits, and coordinated special
lectures. One highlight of these efforts occurred when the librarians
spent a full workday clothed in seventeenth-century costumes dur-
ing Cameron University’s Renaissance Festival. Another came
when the library served as a display area for mastodon bones un-
earthed by students near the on-campus home of President Davis.65

During the 1980s and 1990s Davis and Provost Terral McKellips
made funds available for continued library growth and develop-
ment. A 1983 building expansion project doubled the library in size.
“The recently renovated Cameron Library added beauty and pres-
tige [and] was a symbol of Cameron’s new image,” noted one ad-
mirer. An adequately sized elevator made material shelving more
efficient and provided access for physically challenged patrons. A
computer lab allowed students to complete course assignments,
from beginning research to final paper creation, in one convenient
location.66 Because of administrative interest in emerging technolo-
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gies, database access improved, and library functions were progres-
sively automated.

Lack of space became problematic, in spite of the building expan-
sion. Librarians purchased materials in micro format and dese-
lected books in order to create space for collection growth. When
students discovered withdrawn materials in a outdoor trash bin,
campus and Lawton newspaper authors criticized the disposal of li-
brary materials. The Cameron Student Government Association
passed a resolution that attempted to forbid disposal of library ma-
terials.67 Librarians implemented stringent withdrawal guidelines
and either gave withdrawn items to other libraries or to university
officials for sale as surplus materials.

Student criticism of library-related events such as conversion to
an online catalog and de-selection of library materials marked a
new era in library-student relations. No longer pleased with what-
ever library access was available, students expected excellent col-
lections and services, and they vocalized these expectations. Shared
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governance mechanisms—the Student Government Association, for
example—encouraged students to evaluate school services and think
critically about the library. In contrast to early-twentieth-century stu-
dents who helped insure their library’s survival through uncondi-
tional support, late-twentieth-century students helped their
school’s library remain relevant through critical examination of its
collections and services.

Could they have seen it, Arda Frans and other early Cameron li-
brarians and administrators likely would have been favorably im-
pressed with Cameron’s late-twentieth-century library. Together
with those who served before them, Howard Way and Charles
Conwill might have been interested to find the college and its li-
brary still in existence. Arda Frans and Odeal Locke might have
been astonished to learn how computerization had helped provide
access to more information more rapidly than ever before possible,
without, in many cases, the need to visit the library in person. Each
one of those individuals would have been pleased to see records of
their work at Cameron Library preserved in a recently created Uni-
versity Archives Room68 and would be amazed at the increased com-
plexity of operations and level of faculty and student participation
in library governance.

The local, state, and national movement for agricultural educa-
tion created Cameron and its library. Community, faculty, and stu-
dent faith in the efficacy of agricultural education and, later, in
higher education, offered the financial and moral support that en-
abled both school and library to survive. Accrediting agency re-
quirements, library association guidelines, and public belief in the
importance of informational resources inspired administrators and
librarians to evaluate and improve library services and collections
as educational needs changed. The library’s history was one of set-
backs and successes. Cameron University continues to enroll a
larger student body each year. In the fine tradition of development
that began in 1909 with that first shelf of shared-use books, plans
are under way in the twenty-first century for a new, larger library
building and student writing center. As the university grows, so
grows the library.
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